Project 2023-041

Biodiversity Conservation Messaging:

A Comprehensive Review

<u>Prepared by:</u> Qingyang Li, UBC Sustainability Scholar, 2023

Prepared for:

Sharon MacGougan, President, Garden City Conservation Society Bruno Vernier, Director, Garden City Conservation Society

August 2023

Declaimer

This report was produced as part of the UBC Sustainability Scholars Program, a partnership between the University of British Columbia and various local governments and organizations in support of providing graduate students with opportunities to do applied research on projects that advance sustainability across the region.

This project was conducted under the mentorship of Garden City Conservation Society (GCCS) staff. The opinions and recommendations in this report and any errors are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of Garden City Conservation Society (GCCS) or the University of British Columbia.

Acknowledgements

The author acknowledges that the office of this project is situated on the unceded ancestral lands of the xwmə θ kwəýəm (Musqueam), Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish), S'ólh Téméxw (Stó:lō) and Səĺlwəta?/Selilwitulh (Tsleil- Waututh) Nations. The author acknowledges this project work took place on the traditional, ancestral, and unceded territory of the Coast Salish and Musqueam Peoples, who have been stewarded in the Fraser River Estuary for millennia. The abundance of the Fraser River Basin, as evidenced by the presence of many other nations, Nlaka'pamux, Tsilhqot'in, Secwepem, Okanagan, St'át'im, Wet'Suwet'en, Sekani, and Dakel, frequenting the study area, was under the governance of Indigenous peoples for thousands of years.

The author would like to thank the project mentors, Sharon MacGougan and Bruno Vernier, for their guidance and support throughout my research. The author would like to thank Karen Taylor, Linda Nowlan, and Sam Filipenko for their kind help. The author gratefully acknowledges the funding support provided by Bullitt Foundation Grant.

Contents

Abstract	3
Introduction	3
Factors Influencing Messaging Effectiveness	5
Cultural & Societal Contexts	5
Communication Channels & Media Platforms Combined with Digital Sources	5
Message Framing & Visual Communication	5
Source Credibility & Trustworthiness	5
Timing & Frequency of Messaging	5
Theoretical Frameworks for Biodiversity Conservation Messaging	7
Psychological Theories	7
Sociological Theories	8
Communication Principles & Approaches	9
Messaging Strategies & Effectiveness for Biodiversity Conservation	13
Framing and Message Framing Techniques	13
Message Contents	17
Message Formatting	18
Message Sources & Messengers	19
Challenges & Limitations in Biodiversity Conservation Messaging	20
The Complexity of Biodiversity Issues Influenced by Socio-Political Factors	20
Lack of Public Understanding & Interest with Limited Reach of Conservation Messages	20
Overcoming Information Gaps & Scientific Complexity	20
Addressing Message Fatigue & Desensitization	21
Reaching Diverse & Hard-to-Reach Audiences	21
Lack of Evaluation & Feedback	21
Recommendations & Best Practices	22
Contents for Composing Conservation Messages	22
Interactions with Other Platforms & Stakeholders	23
Conclusions	25
References	27

Abstract

Biodiversity conservation is crucial for maintaining ecosystem stability and supporting essential services for human well-being. Effective messaging plays a vital role in engaging individuals and communities in biodiversity protection efforts. This literature review synthesizes current knowledge on biodiversity conservation messaging, exploring factors influencing messaging effectiveness, various approaches, and theoretical frameworks. It examines challenges such as information gaps, message fatigue, reaching diverse audiences, and evaluating messaging impact. The review highlights the importance of tailoring messages to specific audiences, using simple and clear language with actionable plans, utilizing storytelling and narrative techniques, employing both message tones, applying arts and visual communication, incorporating digital platforms, and fostering collaborations. The findings provide insights for future research and practice in developing impactful biodiversity conservation messaging strategies to inspire positive behavioural change and promote sustainable practices.

Introduction

Biodiversity, encompassing the variety of life within and between species and ecosystems, is crucial for ecosystem functionality and human well-being, offering numerous ecosystem services like food, clean water, air quality, climate regulation, pollination, and recreational opportunities (Heydari et al., 2020). Despite its importance, biodiversity faces serious threats, primarily due to human activities, such as habitat destruction, overexploitation, pollution, invasive species, and climate change (World Health Organization & Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, 2015). Thus, biodiversity conservation has become paramount for sustaining ecological equilibrium and preserving the integrity of the Earth's ecosystems (Awasthi et al., 2014; Balmford et al., 2002)

Effective messaging is instrumental in biodiversity protection efforts, acting as a tool to raise awareness, shape attitudes, encourage sustainable behaviours, and motivate individuals, communities, and policymakers toward conservation initiatives (Dale et al., 2021; Jones, 2014). It bridges the gap between scientific knowledge and public comprehension, fostering a sense of stewardship and driving support for conservation (Buijs et al., 2008; Schultz, 2011). Communication strategies, ranging from public campaigns and educational programs to advocacy efforts, can articulate the value of biodiversity, the challenges it faces, and the actionable steps for its preservation. Through various channels like traditional media, social media, and direct communication, they can effectively engage diverse audiences, appealing to their values, emotions, and motivations to inspire positive change and policy alterations favouring biodiversity protection (Kidd, Garrard, et al., 2019).

However, crafting effective messages for biodiversity protection is a complex task that requires a deep understanding of the target audience, appropriate communication channels, and applying relevant psychological and communication theories (Dietz, 2013; Veríssimo, 2019). Despite the challenges, the potential impact of effective messaging on biodiversity protection underscores its importance in conservation efforts.

The purpose of this comprehensive literature review is to synthesize the current state of knowledge on biodiversity conservation messaging for biodiversity protection. By examining academic and non-academic literature, reports, and websites, we aim to explore the range of messaging approaches, theories, and factors that influence the effectiveness of biodiversity conservation messaging. Additionally, this review seeks to identify best practices, challenges, and limitations in biodiversity conservation messaging. The insights gained from this review will inform future research and practice in designing and implementing effective messaging strategies to enhance biodiversity conservation efforts.

Factors Influencing Messaging Effectiveness

Cultural & Societal Contexts

The effectiveness of conservation messaging can be significantly influenced by the cultural and societal contexts in which they are delivered (Moorhouse et al., 2015). Messages need to be tailored to the values, beliefs, and norms of the target audience to ensure they resonate and lead to desired actions (Moorhouse et al., 2015).

Communication Channels & Media Platforms Combined with Digital Sources

The choice of communication channels and media platforms can also impact the reach and effectiveness of conservation messages. Traditional media (e.g., TV, radio, print) and digital media (e.g., social media, websites, apps) offer different advantages and challenges, and the choice should be based on the target audience's media consumption habits (Veríssimo, 2019). Integrating digital sources such as digital museums and artificial intelligence can also improve the effectiveness of conservation messaging (Dale et al., 2021; Silvestro et al., 2022).

Message Framing & Visual Communication

How messages are framed, including visual elements, can significantly influence their effectiveness. For example, positive framing (focusing on the benefits of action) and negative framing (highlighting the costs of inaction) can elicit different responses. Visual communication, such as compelling images or infographics, can also enhance message engagement and recall (O'Neill & Nicholson-Cole, 2009).

Source Credibility & Trustworthiness

Messages from sources perceived as credible and trustworthy are more likely to be accepted by the audience (Dale et al., 2021). This includes factors such as the source's expertise, transparency, and perceived neutrality (Pornpitakpan, 2004).

Timing & Frequency of Messaging

The timing and frequency of biodiversity conservation messaging can affect its effectiveness. Timing refers to the strategic placement of messages during critical moments or events relevant to the target audience. Frequency pertains to the number of times the messages are repeated or reinforced over time. Research suggests timely messaging aligned with essential events and repeated exposure to messages can increase awareness, knowledge, and behaviour change (Hornik, 2002; Wakefield et al., 2010). Messages need to be delivered at a time when the audience is most receptive and repeated enough to reinforce the message but not so much that it leads to fatigue (Sheeran et al., 2015).

Theoretical Frameworks for Biodiversity Conservation Messaging

The theoretical frameworks for biodiversity conservation messaging are diverse and multidisciplinary, drawing from fields such as social psychology, communication theory, and ethics. Some theories are not mutually exclusive while sharing common elements. Here are some fundamental theories and concepts identified in the literature.

Psychological Theories

Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM)

The Elaboration Likelihood Model (ELM) proposes two distinct routes to persuasion: the central and peripheral routes (Cacioppo & Petty, 1984). The central route involves thoughtful consideration of the arguments presented, while the peripheral route relies more on superficial cues for persuasion. When applied to conservation messaging for biodiversity protection, the ELM suggests that effective messaging should cater to both routes. For those following the central route, well-articulated arguments outlining the importance of biodiversity and the consequences of its loss can stimulate thoughtful consideration and lead to lasting attitude change (Petty et al., 2002). For audiences more prone to peripheral processing, captivating imagery, endorsement by trusted figures, or emotional appeals can be effective (Cacioppo et al., 1983). Thus, the ELM can guide the development of comprehensive conservation messages that engage audiences on multiple levels, enhancing the likelihood of persuasion and fostering behaviours that support biodiversity protection.

Theory of Planned Behaviour

The Theory of Planned Behaviour, suggesting that attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioural control guide intentions and, consequently, behaviour, can be employed in biodiversity conservation messaging to comprehend and impact public attitudes and actions towards conservation (Ajzen, 1991; Schultz, 2011). This approach underscores the significance of addressing individuals' outlooks on biodiversity, the effect of conservation-related social norms, and their perceived control over conservation actions, thereby enabling messaging to effectively mould their intentions and subsequent behaviours towards preserving biodiversity.

Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA)

The Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA), developed by Martin Fishbein and Icek Ajzen (1977), posits that individuals' behaviour is directly influenced by their behavioural intentions, which are, in turn, shaped by their attitudes toward the behaviour and subjective norms. Regarding biodiversity conservation messaging, the TRA suggests that messages should aim to influence

individuals' attitudes toward conservation behaviours and their perceptions of social norms around these behaviours. For example, messages highlighting the benefits of conservation behaviours and showing that these behaviours are socially valued can encourage individuals to engage in these behaviours.

Cognitive Dissonance Theory

This theory posits that people experience discomfort when they hold conflicting beliefs or when their behaviour conflicts with their beliefs, and they are motivated to reduce this dissonance (Festinger, 1962). In the context of biodiversity conservation, messaging could highlight the dissonance between people's pro-environmental beliefs and behaviours that harm biodiversity, motivating them to change their behaviour.

Social Cognitive Theory (SCT)

SCT posits that learning occurs in a social context with dynamic and reciprocal interactions between people, their behaviour, and their environment (Bandura, 1991). According to SCT, people learn through seeing the behaviours and results of others' acts in addition to their own experiences. In the context of biodiversity conservation, messaging can leverage SCT principles by showcasing role models demonstrating pro-environmental behaviours, which can motivate individuals to emulate these actions (Bandura, 1999). Also, conservation messages can harness SCT's concept of 'self-efficacy'- people's belief in their capabilities to execute certain behavioursby providing information and tools that enhance individuals' confidence in their ability to perform actions beneficial for biodiversity (Bamberg & Möser, 2007; Bandura, 1977). Thus, conservation messaging that emphasizes observable, successful behaviours and reinforces selfefficacy can effectively foster pro-environmental actions supporting biodiversity conservation.

Sociological Theories

Social Identity Theory

The Social Identity Theory posits that individuals derive part of their identity from the social groups they belong to and are motivated to improve the status and positive distinctiveness of these groups (Tajfel et al., 1979). Applied to conservation messaging for biodiversity protection, the theory implies that framing conservation efforts as a group activity tied to a collective identity can foster a commitment to conservation behaviours (Hogg et al., 2017). For instance, messages that emphasize a community's shared responsibility for the local environment or a nation's unique biodiversity as a source of pride can invoke a sense of collective identity and inspire pro-environmental actions. Furthermore, communication strategies that promote the

perception of 'conservationists' as a positive and distinct social group may enhance individuals' willingness to identify with this group and adopt its norms, including behaviours supportive of biodiversity protection (Brewer & Gardner, 1996).

Social Norms Theory

According to the Social Norms Theory, people's behaviour is impacted by their ideas of what is usual or typical (Cialdini et al., 1990). Conservation messaging can leverage this theory by highlighting positive conservation behaviours that are common or desirable in a particular community or society (Schultz, 2011).

Diffusion of Innovations Theory

The Diffusion of Innovations theory, formulated by Rogers (2010), postulates that innovation, or new ideas, spreads through a society in an S-shaped curve, beginning with innovators, then early adopters, early majority, late majority, and finally the laggards. This theory can be strategically applied in conservation messaging for biodiversity protection (Singhal & Rogers, 2012). By identifying and targeting the innovators and early adopters in a community — those who are more likely to embrace new ideas and behaviours — conservationists can initiate a ripple effect that gradually influences the rest of society (Valente, 1996). For instance, novel practices or technologies that promote biodiversity, such as sustainable farming methods or ecotourism, can be introduced and diffused through key influencers within a community (Rogers, 2010). As these pioneers adopt and showcase the benefits of such practices, it encourages others to follow suit, gradually leading to broader acceptance and adoption (Valente & Davis, 1999). Therefore, the Diffusion of Innovations theory can help optimize conservation messaging strategies, fostering faster and broader behavioural change toward biodiversity protection.

Communication Principles & Approaches

Framing Theory & Message Framing

This theory explains how the way an issue is presented or "framed" can influence people's perceptions and responses (Entman, 1993). By employing diverse frames—such as presenting biodiversity loss as a moral, economic, or health issue—messaging can appeal to varied audiences (Jacobson et al., 2015). Furthermore, emphasizing the positive benefits of conservation (gain-framed messages) or the negative outcomes of inaction (loss-framed messages) can strategically influence individuals' attitudes and behavioural intentions, effectively stimulating motivation for desired behaviours (Kidd, Bekessy, et al., 2019).

Health Communication Approaches

Health Communication Approaches, traditionally used to promote public health objectives, can be effectively applied to conservation messaging for biodiversity protection. These approaches often rely on persuasive tactics and strategies to incite behavioural change, drawing on principles such as using clear and actionable messages, tailoring information to specific audiences, and leveraging various media channels for dissemination (Kreps & Neuhauser, 2010). For instance, fear appeals, which highlight the potential negative consequences of not adopting a recommended behaviour, can underline the severe repercussions of biodiversity loss (Witte & Allen, 2000). Similarly, the concept of 'framing' in health communication, which stresses presenting information in ways that resonate with audience values and beliefs, can be employed to craft compelling narratives about biodiversity conservation (Malikhao, 2018). By using health communication approaches, conservation messaging can become more persuasive and effective in instigating pro-environmental behaviours and supporting biodiversity protection (Malikhao, 2018).

Social Marketing Campaigns

Social Marketing Campaigns, which utilize marketing principles to influence social behaviours, can be highly effective in conservation messaging for biodiversity protection. Such campaigns aim to change or reinforce behaviours by understanding and targeting audience needs and want, creating appealing messages, and delivering them through appropriate channels (Andreasen, 2002). In the context of biodiversity conservation, social marketing campaigns can foster proenvironmental behaviours by increasing public knowledge, shaping attitudes, and promoting interpersonal communication about conservation issues (Green et al., 2019). These campaigns are particularly useful in combating destructive practices such as illegal hunting and overfishing. Hence, integrating social marketing strategies into conservation programs can bolster their effectiveness by motivating behavioural change and fostering a greater commitment to biodiversity protection.

Community-Based Social Marketing (CBSM)

CBSM combines psychology with social marketing to foster sustainable behaviours within community settings, proving instrumental for conservation messaging for biodiversity protection. CBSM typically involves identifying barriers and benefits associated with desired behaviours, designing a strategy to address these elements, piloting the strategy with a segment of the community, and finally, broad-scale implementation and evaluation (McKenzie-Mohr, 2000). A key feature of CBSM is its emphasis on direct contact with people and creating community-wide changes in behaviour, which can lead to long-lasting effects (Linder et al., 2018; McKenzie-Mohr, 2000). For instance, CBSM can be used to promote community involvement in local conservation efforts, encouraging practices like responsible waste disposal or preservation of local habitats (Linder et al., 2018; McKenzie-Mohr, 2000). By incorporating CBSM strategies into conservation messaging, these initiatives can foster more sustainable behaviours, leading to more successful and lasting biodiversity protection (Linder et al., 2018; McKenzie-Mohr, 2000).

Nudging

"Nudging" involves subtly steering individuals towards beneficial choices without eliminating any options (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). This approach can be effectively utilized in conservation messaging for biodiversity protection. Nudges can be designed to guide individuals and communities towards pro-environmental behaviours, such as recycling or reducing energy consumption, by making these choices more intuitive and easy to follow. For instance, providing clear information on product labels about their environmental impact, or setting eco-friendly options as the default in choice scenarios, are nudging strategies that can lead to more sustainable decisions (Sunstein & Reisch, 2014). As such, incorporating nudging techniques into biodiversity conservation messaging can subtly influence behaviours and promote sustainable practices, contributing to biodiversity protection.

Connectedness to Nature

Theoretical frameworks for biodiversity conservation messaging emphasize the importance of fostering a connection to nature, known as nature connectedness, as a key strategy for promoting pro-environmental attitudes and behaviours (Capaldi et al., 2014; Ives et al., 2017; Restall & Conrad, 2015; Richardson et al., 2020; Zylstra et al., 2014, 2014). Nature connectedness involves individuals feeling a sense of unity with nature and is associated with increased happiness, improved mental health, and a greater inclination to engage in behaviours that protect the environment (Capaldi et al., 2014; Restall & Conrad, 2015; Weir, 2020). Research indicates that spending time in nature can enhance nature connectedness and promote proenvironmental attitudes and behaviours (DeVille et al., 2021). Therefore, interventions aimed at increasing exposure to nature can be effective in promoting biodiversity conservation. However, not all nature-based activities have the same impact on connectedness, and the effects vary (Capaldi et al., 2014). Apart from direct contact with nature, practices such as mindfulness, meditation, and recreational drug use can also foster connectedness. Positive affect is positively associated with connectedness, while negative affect is negatively correlated. Individual differences, including age, gender, and worldviews, influence connectedness, and psychological processes like self-awareness and affect mediate the relationship between nature and connectedness (Capaldi et al., 2014). The "pathways to nature connectedness" framework

proposes promoting sensory contact, positive feedback, and care for nature to cultivate a stronger human-nature bond for a sustainable future (Richardson et al., 2020). This framework can guide the development of biodiversity conservation messages aimed at enhancing nature connectedness. Overall, fostering a connection to nature holds promise as a strategy for promoting biodiversity conservation, and future research should continue exploring the underlying processes, moderators, and cultural aspects of connectedness, while conservation messaging should be designed to nurture this connection (Capaldi et al., 2014; DeVille et al., 2021; Ives et al., 2017; Restall & Conrad, 2015; Richardson et al., 2020; Weir, 2020; Zylstra et al., 2014, 2014).

Neutral Theory of Biodiversity

The Neutral Theory of Biodiversity, a fundamental concept in ecology, proposes that the diversity and relative abundance of species in ecosystems are shaped primarily by random processes rather than deterministic factors (Hubbell, 2011). While not directly applied to conservation messaging, this theory provides a valuable framework for understanding biodiversity. It helps us appreciate the natural dynamics of species diversity and could potentially guide conservation efforts by highlighting the importance of protecting all species, regardless of their currently perceived importance, given their equivalent ecological roles under this theory. Conservation messages grounded in the Neutral Theory of Biodiversity could emphasize the inherent value of all species and the unpredictability of their roles in ecosystem stability, underscoring the importance of comprehensive biodiversity protection.

Messaging Strategies & Effectiveness for Biodiversity Conservation

Framing and Message Framing Techniques

Framing Tones

1. Positive Framing / Appea Is to Intrinsic Values

Positive framing, also known as appeals to intrinsic values, is a conservation messaging strategy that emphasizes the benefits of pro-environmental actions (Kidd, Garrard, et al., 2019; Kusmanoff et al., 2020; McCunn et al., 2021). This approach is particularly effective in fostering emotional connections with nature and inspiring participation in conservation efforts (Kidd, Garrard, et al., 2019; Kusmanoff et al., 2020; McCunn et al., 2021).

One of the key strategies within positive framing is promoting the aesthetic and spiritual value of biodiversity. This involves highlighting the beauty, diversity, and intricate patterns found in natural ecosystems. By showcasing these aesthetic aspects, messaging can evoke a sense of admiration and appreciation for the natural world. Research has shown that emphasizing the aesthetic value of biodiversity can foster positive attitudes toward conservation and encourage individuals to engage in pro-environmental behaviours (Dawkins & Lambe, 2022; Zylstra et al., 2014). Furthermore, this approach emphasizes the intrinsic value of biodiversity, focusing on the beauty, wonder, and spiritual significance of the natural world, thereby fostering an emotional connection with nature (Chan et al., 2012).

Another effective approach within positive framing is fostering emotional connections between individuals and nature. This involves highlighting the emotional benefits and personal experiences that can be derived from engaging with biodiversity. Messaging can evoke positive emotions and a sense of connectedness by emphasizing the joy, wonder, and tranquillity that nature provides. Studies have shown that emotional connections with nature are associated with increased pro-environmental attitudes and behaviours (Anderson & Krettenauer, 2021; Geng et al., 2015; Mayer & Frantz, 2004). This approach seeks to cultivate a sense of love, respect, and awe for the natural world, encouraging individuals to protect biodiversity out of a deep emotional commitment to nature (Kals et al., 1999; Mayer & Frantz, 2004; Nisbet et al., 2009).

However, while positive framing can inspire participation in conservation efforts, it may also lead to complacency and be less effective for behavioural change than negative framing (Baumeister et al., 2001; Hornsey & Fielding, 2016; Kusmanoff et al., 2020). Therefore, it is crucial to balance the use of positive framing with other messaging strategies to promote biodiversity conservation effectively.

2. Negative Framing / Threat-Based Messaging

Negative framing or threat-based messaging in the context of biodiversity conservation emphasizes the adverse consequences of not taking action. This approach can create a sense of urgency and stimulate action by highlighting the negative impacts of biodiversity loss, such as increased vulnerability to natural disasters, loss of ecosystem services, and threats to human well-being (Keesstra et al., 2016). It might involve underlining the severe consequences of habitat loss or species extinction if conservation measures are not implemented (Kusmanoff et al., 2020).

However, this approach has its drawbacks. Conservation messages can be perceived as overly negative or doom-laden, which can lead to disengagement (Clayton et al., 2013). While messages highlighting the dire consequences of biodiversity loss can grab attention, they can also lead to despair and inaction. People may feel that the problem could be bigger for them to make a difference (Knight, 2008).

Effective messaging strategies should emphasize the direct and indirect impacts of biodiversity loss on human well-being, economy, and ecosystem services (Díaz et al., n.d., 2019). For instance, biodiversity loss can lead to reduced crop yields, increased vulnerability to natural disasters, and loss of potential medical substances (Cardinale et al., 2012). Furthermore, biodiversity loss can exacerbate climate change by reducing the capacity of ecosystems to sequester carbon (Hooper et al., 2012).

Raising awareness of environmental crises and urgency is crucial for promoting proenvironmental behaviours and policies. Messages should highlight the severity and immediacy of environmental crises, such as climate change, deforestation, and species extinction (Moser, 2010). Moreover, messages should also convey the urgency of taking action to address these crises. This can be achieved by presenting clear and specific actions that individuals and societies can take to mitigate environmental crises (Moser & Dilling, 2007). For instance, messages can encourage individuals to reduce their carbon footprint by changing their consumption patterns and advocate for policies that promote sustainable development and conservation.

Message Framing

It is crucial to strategically frame the message to highlight personal benefits instead of social or environmental benefits to engage the audience more effectively (Kolandai-Matchett & Armoudian, 2020). Furthermore, the framing of the information can influence the tone of the comments, suggesting the importance of careful message framing in conservation communication.

1. Emotional Framing

Both emotional appeals and storytelling are effective tools in biodiversity conservation messaging. However, their effectiveness depends on various factors, including the audience's values, perceptions, and the context in which the message is delivered. Therefore, it is crucial to strategically leverage these tools to maximize their impact (Martell, 2022).

(1) Emotional Appeals in Biodiversity Conservation Messaging

Emotional appeals play a crucial role in biodiversity conservation messaging. They can significantly influence public attitudes and behaviours toward biodiversity conservation (Veríssimo, 2019). Emotional appeals can be categorized into positive (e.g., love, joy, and hope) and negative (e.g., fear, guilt, and anger). Both positive and negative emotional appeals can be effective, but their effectiveness may depend on the context and the audience (O'Neill & Nicholson-Cole, 2009).

Positive emotional appeals often focus on the beauty, wonder, and intrinsic value of nature. They inspire a sense of awe and foster a deeper connection with nature (Rozema & Nowak, 2021). These appeals can effectively engage the audience by emphasizing things that matter to the audience (Kusmanoff et al., 2020). However, the effectiveness of these appeals may vary depending on the audience's values and perceptions.

Negative emotional appeals highlight the threats and consequences of biodiversity loss. They provoke a sense of urgency and stimulate action (Salazar et al., 2022). These appeals can be particularly effective when the audience perceives a high risk to biodiversity. However, they must be used cautiously to avoid inducing feelings of helplessness or overwhelming the audience.

(2) The Power of Storytelling in Connecting with Audiences

Storytelling is another powerful tool in biodiversity conservation messaging. It can make complex scientific concepts more accessible and relatable to the public (Cox, 2013; Wang et al., 2022). Stories can evoke emotions, stimulate imagination, and foster empathy toward non-human species (Kidd, Bekessy, et al., 2019). Moreover, storytelling can bridge the gap between knowledge and action in biodiversity conservation by presenting relatable characters, conflicts, and resolutions (Jones, 2014; Kolandai-Matchett & Armoudian, 2020).

However, it is essential to ensure that stories are accurate, culturally sensitive, and ethically sound. Misrepresentation of biodiversity issues can lead to misunderstanding, skepticism, or backlash (Ballejo et al., 2021; Cox, 2013).

2. Rational Framing

Rational framing in conservation messaging can be a powerful tool for influencing perceptions and promoting pro-environmental behaviours. However, the effectiveness of different types of framing can vary depending on the context and the target audience. Therefore, it is crucial to tailor the framing strategy to the specific conservation issue and the characteristics of the target audience.

(1) Loss & Gain framing

Loss and gain framing involves presenting the same information in terms of potential losses or gains. In biodiversity conservation, a loss-framed message might emphasize the species and habitats that could be lost due to inaction, while a gain-framed message might highlight the species and habitats that could be saved through conservation efforts (Kidd, Bekessy, et al., 2019). However, the effectiveness of loss and gain framing can depend on various factors, including the target audience and the nature of the conservation issue (Clayton et al., 2009).

(2) Distance Framing

Distance framing is a type of rational framing used in conservation messaging. It includes two main categories: spatial framing and temporal framing. These frames can significantly influence the audience's perception of biodiversity conservation issues and willingness to take action.

Spatial framing involves presenting biodiversity conservation issues in a local or distant context. Local framing might highlight the impacts of biodiversity loss in the audience's immediate environment, while distant framing might focus on biodiversity issues in far-off locations. The effectiveness of spatial framing can depend on the audience's sense of place and perceived connection to the local or distant environment (Malhi et al., 2020; UN environment programme, 2022).

Temporal framing in conservation messaging emphasizes the impacts of biodiversity loss or the benefits of conservation in either the immediate (short-term) or future (long-term) context. Immediate framing underscores the current effects of biodiversity loss, such as habitat loss or climate change impacts (Government of Canada, 2018; Silvestro et al., 2022). Conversely, future framing highlights the potential benefits of conservation actions, such as preserving ecosystem

health, preventing species extinction, and mitigating climate change (Hurlbert et al., 2019; UNESCO, 2022). This framing can influence perceptions of urgency and importance and can be tailored to the target audience's temporal orientation. In biodiversity conservation messaging, contrasting the immediate costs of conservation actions with the long-term benefits for biodiversity and ecosystem health can be a powerful tool (UN environment programme, 2022; White et al., 2019).

(3) Economic & Utilitarian Messaging

Economic and utilitarian messaging emphasizes the economic benefits of biodiversity conservation. Biodiversity contributes to the economy by providing ecosystem services, including carbon sequestration, water provision, and livestock production on natural pastures. These services are essential for human well-being and economic development (Naidoo et al., 2008). Furthermore, ecosystem services are the benefits that humans derive from ecosystems. Highlighting the value of these services can help communicate the importance of biodiversity conservation (Naidoo et al., 2008).

(4) Behaviour-Focused Messaging

Behaviour-focused messaging encourages pro-environmental behaviours by promoting awareness of the benefits of such behaviours and the negative consequences of nonenvironmentally friendly actions (Schultz, 2014). Providing actionable steps is another essential component of behavior-focused messaging strategies. This involves giving individuals and communities clear and specific actions they can take to contribute to biodiversity protection. Research has shown that when individuals are provided with specific actions they can handle, they are more likely to engage in pro-environmental behaviours (Abrahamse et al., 2005).

Message Contents

1. Informational Messages

Informational messages are integral to conservation messaging, providing factual details about biodiversity and its significance (Dale et al., 2021). These messages, often loaded with facts, figures, and scientific evidence, serve to educate audiences about the importance of biodiversity, the threats it faces, and the protective measures that can be taken (Clayton et al., 2013). They are instrumental in raising awareness and enhancing knowledge about biodiversity conservation, promoting pro-environmental behaviour (Dale et al., 2021).

2. Personal Relevance & Tailored Messaging

Messages in conservation messaging that are personally relevant and tailored to the audience's values, beliefs, and experiences tend to be more persuasive and impactful (Dale et al., 2021). The efficacy of these messages relies heavily on their alignment with the audience's interests, values, and experiences (Corner et al., 2014). For example, a message about deforestation's impact on local wildlife might resonate more with a rural audience, while an urban audience may be more engaged by a message about urban green spaces' role in supporting biodiversity (Corner et al., 2014). Thus, tailoring messages to the audience's identity and values is a crucial aspect of effective communication, as noted in the context of climate change communication (Corner et al., 2014; Dale et al., 2021).

Message Formatting

1. Simple & Clear Language

Using simple and clear language for biodiversity conservation messages is crucial for effective communication. This approach helps understandably convey complex topics, using metaphors, analogies and references to existing social or cultural knowledge (Ontario et al., 2017). The goal is to create empowering and positive messages that motivate people to take action toward biodiversity conservation (de Lange et al., 2022). For instance, messages can highlight how biodiversity supports essential needs such as food, clean water, medicine, and shelter (World Wildlife Fund, n.d.). It is also essential to tailor the messages to the audience's level of understanding and context, making them personally relevant and impactful. This approach can help overcome the challenges of communicating multifactorial and comprehensive topics like biodiversity conservation (Council of Europe, 2016).

2. Actionable Information

Actionable information for biodiversity conservation messages is essential to translate knowledge into action and bridging the knowledge-action gap (Buxton et al., 2021). This involves understanding habitats, species, ecosystems, and threats and recognizing Indigenous knowledge systems. Collaboration among scientists and stakeholders is crucial for transformative change (Buxton et al., 2021). Concrete actions are essential, and strategies for durable conservation can be shared through resources like the Biodiversity Action Guide (The Nature Conservancy, n.d.). It is also important to empower locals for lasting conservation and use financial mechanisms to support these efforts (The Nature Conservancy, n.d.). Furthermore, integrating biodiversity into policies, increasing financial resources, enhancing private funding, promoting innovative finance for biodiversity, and ensuring data accessibility are key actions for effective implementation

(Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2023). Lastly, individuals can contribute to biodiversity conservation by promoting sustainable practices, learning about nature, and supporting local conservation efforts (Nature Trust, n.d.).

3. Visual & Multimedia Approaches

Visual and multimedia methods, including images, videos, infographics, and interactive media, are increasingly employed in conservation messaging, enhancing engagement, comprehension, and recall of conservation messages (Dale et al., 2021). These visuals can make abstract concepts more concrete, trigger emotions, and seize the audience's attention. For instance, a video depicting the beauty and threats of a coral reef can serve as a compelling tool for advocating marine conservation (Nicoll et al., 2016). This amplifies the role of visual imagery in communicating environmental issues such as climate change (O'Neill & Nicholson-Cole, 2009).

Message Sources & Messengers

1. Credibility & Trustworthiness of Message Sources

The credibility and reliability of the origin of a message significantly influence how the message is received (Dale et al., 2021; O'Keefe, 2015). In the context of biodiversity conservation, messages from sources perceived as experts or trustworthy, such as respected scientists or conservation organizations, maybe more persuasive.

2. Influential Messengers & Opinion Leaders

Influential individuals or opinion leaders can significantly impact the attitudes and behaviours of their followers (Rogers, 2010). In biodiversity conservation, these effective messengers could be well-known figures in the field, celebrities known for their environmental activism, or local community leaders (Dale et al., 2021).

3. Role of Social Networks in Spreading Conservation Messages

Social networks can be powerful in spreading messages and influencing behaviour (Valente, 2012). Messages can spread quickly through social networks, and individuals are often influenced by the attitudes and behaviours of their network peers. In the context of biodiversity conservation, social media platforms could be used to spread conservation messages to a broad audience.

Challenges & Limitations in Biodiversity Conservation Messaging

The Complexity of Biodiversity Issues Influenced by Socio-Political Factors

Biodiversity conservation involves complex ecological, social, and economic issues. Communicating these complexities to the public can be challenging. Simplifying the message can lead to misinformation while providing too much detail can overwhelm the audience (Newbold et al., 2015). Meanwhile, conservation messaging does not exist in a vacuum. It is influenced by broader socio-political contexts, including political ideologies, cultural values, and social norms. These factors can shape how messages are interpreted and whether they lead to behaviour change (Knight, 2008).

Lack of Public Understanding & Interest with Limited Reach of Conservation Messages

Conservation messaging often needs a more straightforward and compelling narrative, making it easier for the public to understand and engage with the issues at hand (Clayton et al., 2013). Many people lack a basic understanding of biodiversity and its importance. This can make it challenging to engage the public in conservation efforts. Furthermore, biodiversity is often seen as a distant problem that does not directly affect people's lives, reducing their motivation to act (Knight, 2008). Worsley conservation messages often fail to reach a broad audience. They are typically disseminated through channels that are most accessible to people who are already interested in and informed about biodiversity issues (Dale et al., 2021; Knight, 2008). There is a lack of understanding of the target audience's values, beliefs, and attitudes, which can lead to ineffective messaging (Clayton et al., 2013).

Overcoming Information Gaps & Scientific Complexity

Biodiversity and ecological concepts can be intricate, making it challenging for the general public to understand and engage with the messaging effectively (Dale et al., 2021). Bridging these gaps and translating scientific knowledge into accessible language and visuals is essential (Dale et al., 2021). Research suggests the use of clear and concise language, visual aids, and storytelling techniques to enhance comprehension and engagement (Dale et al., 2021; Kusmanoff et al., 2020).

Addressing Message Fatigue & Desensitization

In an increasingly connected world, individuals are exposed to a multitude of messages, leading to message fatigue and desensitization (Kidd, Garrard, et al., 2019). This poses a challenge for biodiversity conservation messaging, as it may struggle to capture and maintain attention amidst competing messages (Kidd, Garrard, et al., 2019). To address this, messaging strategies should focus on novelty, personal relevance, and emotional appeal. Tailoring messages to resonate with individual values and using creative approaches can help overcome message fatigue and increase message impact (Dale et al., 2021).

Reaching Diverse & Hard-to-Reach Audiences

Biodiversity conservation messaging faces the challenge of reaching diverse and hard-to-reach audiences. Different demographics, socio-economic backgrounds, and cultural groups may have varying levels of exposure to and interest in biodiversity issues (Kusmanoff et al., 2020). It is crucial to employ inclusive and culturally sensitive messaging strategies that consider the specific needs, values, and communication preferences of different audience segments (Kusmanoff et al., 2020). Collaborating with community leaders and organizations and utilizing diverse communication channels can help overcome barriers and reach a broader audience (Mayer & Frantz, 2004).

Lack of Evaluation & Feedback

Measuring the impact of biodiversity conservation messaging is challenging and requires robust evaluation frameworks and methodologies. Effective evaluation involves collecting and analyzing data on audience perceptions, knowledge gain, behaviour change, and long-term impact. Preand post-campaign surveys, interviews, and behavioural observations can provide valuable insights into the effectiveness of messaging strategies(Kidd, Bekessy, et al., 2019). However, conservation messaging faces limitations due to a lack of resources, including financial resources and staff expertise. Insufficient resources hinder the development and implementation of effective messaging strategies (Addison et al., 2015). Additionally, a lack of reliable baseline and ongoing monitoring data further complicates the development of effective conservation messages. The systematic evaluation of conservation messages is often lacking, making it challenging to learn from past experiences and improve future messaging strategies (Knight, 2008). Furthermore, integrating decision triggers into existing management frameworks can be challenging due to a lack of technical guidance and methods (Addison et al., 2015).

Recommendations & Best Practices

Contents for Composing Conservation Messages

Use of Trusted Messengers

Messages delivered by trusted and credible sources are more likely to be accepted(Dale et al., 2021; Pornpitakpan, 2004). Therefore, it is important to identify and engage such messengers in conservation communication efforts (Clayton et al., 2013).

Tailoring Messages to Specific Target Audiences

Tailoring biodiversity conservation messages to specific target audiences is essential for maximizing their impact. By understanding the values, beliefs, knowledge levels, and communication preferences of different audience segments, messages can be developed that are more relevant and engaging. Research suggests segmenting audiences based on demographic characteristics, psychographics, and behaviour patterns to deliver targeted messages that resonate with the audience's interests and motivations (Clayton et al., 2013; Kenter et al., 2011). It is crucial to tailor conservation messages to the specific values, interests, and needs of the target audience, increasing the message's relevance and the likelihood of acceptance and action (Clayton et al., 2013).

Use Simple & Clear Language with Actionable Information

This approach ensures that complex topics related to biodiversity conservation are conveyed in an understandable and relatable manner, thus promoting engagement and fostering long-term relations with the audience (Fernández-Llamazares et al., 2020). The messaging should focus on key biodiversity themes such as the importance of natural assets and appreciation of local species (City of Surrey, 2021). Furthermore, it's essential to understand the audience and tailor the messages to their context, making them personally relevant and impactful (Chariandy et al., 2012). Actionable information is crucial as it translates knowledge into action, bridging the knowledge-action gap. This can be achieved by guiding action and specific strategies for biodiversity conservation (Bergman et al., 2022). Thus, combining simple and clear language with actionable information can play a vital role in societal transformations toward sustainability and biodiversity restoration (de Lange et al., 2022).

Utilizing Storytelling & Narrative Approaches

Storytelling and narrative approaches have proven to be highly effective in biodiversity conservation messaging, as they possess the ability to captivate audiences, evoke emotions, and foster connections. By incorporating personal narratives, case studies, and vibrant imagery, the

significance of biodiversity can be effectively conveyed, leading to inspiration and action. Engaging narratives can be constructed by showcasing success stories, highlighting local champions, and demonstrating the tangible impacts of biodiversity conservation efforts (Clayton et al., 2013; Dale et al., 2021; Kusmanoff et al., 2020). Furthermore, storytelling serves as a powerful tool for making conservation messages more engaging, memorable, and persuasive. However, it is crucial for the stories to be authentic and relevant to the intended audience (Clayton et al., 2013).

Balancing Both Positive & Negative Messages

Conservation messages that focus on the positive outcomes of conservation actions can be more effective in motivating behaviour change, and this is because they can inspire hope and a sense of efficacy among the audience (Clayton et al., 2013). However, overly positive messages may fail to convey the seriousness of biodiversity loss, while too much emphasis on negative emotions can lead to fear, apathy, or denial (O'Neill & Nicholson-Cole, 2009). Therefore, it's important to strike a balance between positive and negative messages to make the most use of their effectiveness based on audience and context (Clayton et al., 2013)

Use of Visual & Multimedia Approaches

Visuals can be a powerful tool in conservation messaging. They may be used to arouse feelings, draw attention, and make abstract concepts more concrete (Dale et al., 2021; Kusmanoff et al., 2020). However, they should be used carefully to avoid misinterpretation (Clayton et al., 2013).

Repeated Exposure

Repeated exposure to conservation messages can increase their effectiveness. However, the frequency and timing of the messages should be carefully planned to avoid causing annoyance or desensitization (Clayton et al., 2013).

Interactions with Other Platforms & Stakeholders

Incorporating Social Media & Digital Platforms

Social media and digital platforms play a crucial role in biodiversity conservation messaging in today's digital age. These platforms provide opportunities to reach large and diverse audiences, foster engagement, and facilitate two-way communication. By leveraging social media networks, online communities, and interactive content, biodiversity conservation messages can gain more comprehensive visibility and encourage active participation (Bergman et al., 2022; Dale et al., 2021). Additionally, utilizing multimedia formats such as videos, infographics, and interactive

websites can enhance message effectiveness (Bergman et al., 2022; Dale et al., 2021; Kidd, Garrard, et al., 2019; Kusmanoff et al., 2020).

Collaboration & Partnerships for Effective Messaging

Collaboration and partnerships play a crucial role in effective biodiversity conservation messaging. Engaging with local communities, NGOs, government agencies, and other relevant organizations can enhance the reach and impact of messaging campaigns. Collaborative efforts facilitate pooling resources, expertise, and networks, resulting in an amplified messaging effect and coordinated action. Partnerships can involve joint campaigns, co-creation of content, and shared advocacy, bolstering the visibility and credibility of biodiversity conservation messages (Clayton et al., 2013; Dale et al., 2021). It is important for conservation messages to involve local communities and acknowledge their knowledge, values, and needs. This strategy encourages a sense of ownership and dedication to conservation efforts (Clayton et al., 2013).

Identification of Beneficiaries at Different Scales & Emphasizing Co-Benefits

The spatial scale of ecosystem services is a crucial factor to consider in biodiversity conservation messaging. While certain services like tourism and recreational activities may be provided in a specific location, their benefits may extend beyond the local community. Non-local or international visitors often reap the primary advantages of these services (Hein et al., 2006; TEEB, 2010). Messages that emphasize the co-benefits of biodiversity conservation, such as improved health, economic advantages, and enhanced well-being, can be more persuasive. By making the benefits of conservation more tangible and relevant to the audience, these messages effectively convey the importance of preserving biodiversity (Clayton et al., 2013).

Conclusions

The extensive literature review has illuminated the intricate factors that shape the efficacy of biodiversity conservation messaging. The cultural and societal milieu significantly influences the resonance of conservation messages, underscoring the importance of customizing messages to resonate with the values and beliefs of specific audiences. The selection of communication mediums, digital integration, and the presentation of messages, particularly through visual means, is crucial in maximizing the outreach and impact of conservation initiatives. The trustworthiness of the source, combined with the timing and frequency of the message, further enhances the potency of the communication.

Several theoretical frameworks, spanning both psychological and sociological domains, provide deep insights into the public's perceptions and behaviours regarding biodiversity conservation. Models such as the Elaboration Likelihood Model, Theory of Planned Behaviour, and Social Cognitive Theory shed light on the cognitive pathways that dictate individual reactions to conservation messages. Sociological paradigms, like the Social Identity Theory and Social Norms Theory, underscore the sway of group dynamics and societal standards on conservation actions. Principles from communication studies, including framing theory and health communication models, offer tactical guidance for devising narratives that can shift public sentiment and encourage eco-friendly actions. Moreover, pioneering methods like nudging and communitycentric social marketing spotlight the promise of subtle tactics and community involvement in championing sustainable actions. The notion of nature connectedness emphasizes the innate human-environment bond, suggesting that nurturing this relationship can significantly bolster conservation advocacy. Interestingly, the Neutral Theory of Biodiversity presents an unconventional viewpoint on the intrinsic worth of every species, accentuating the unpredictability of their contributions to ecosystem stability. This perspective can be leveraged to champion the holistic protection of biodiversity.

At its core, effective biodiversity conservation messaging is an intricate blend of diverse factors, theories, and approaches. By amalgamating these insights, conservationists can design powerful messages that not only enlighten but also galvanize collective efforts to safeguard our planet's vast biodiversity.

This literature review's findings pave the way for several implications for future endeavours in biodiversity conservation messaging. The success of messaging strategies hinges on numerous elements, such as framing, tone, content, delivery format, source credibility, and the overarching socio-political backdrop. While positive framing can foster a deep connection with nature and

spur conservation participation, it's vital to balance it with the urgency conveyed by negative framing to prevent complacency. The emotional and rational framing of messages, coupled with the delivery format, significantly impacts audience engagement. Messages from esteemed sources amplify their persuasiveness, and leveraging social networks can exponentially increase their reach.

Nevertheless, biodiversity conservation messaging faces hurdles. The multifaceted nature of biodiversity issues, compounded by socio-political dynamics, poses communication challenges. A general lack of public awareness and engagement with biodiversity often relegates it to a peripheral concern. Consequently, conservation messages sometimes miss their mark, reaching only a limited audience.

To sum up, while a plethora of strategies exist for biodiversity conservation messaging, their success is contingent upon the context and the intended recipients. Tailoring the message to the specific conservation concern and the audience's characteristics is paramount. The path forward lies in delving deeper into the nuances of these strategies across varied contexts and honing even more impactful messaging techniques.

References

- Abrahamse, W., Steg, L., Vlek, C., & Rothengatter, T. (2005). A review of intervention studies aimed at household energy conservation. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 25(3), 273–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2005.08.002
- Addison, P. f. e, de Bie, K., & Rumpff, L. (2015). Setting conservation management thresholds using a novel participatory modeling approach. *Conservation Biology*, *29*(5), 1411–1422. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12544
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *50*(2), 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Anderson, D. J., & Krettenauer, T. (2021). Connectedness to Nature and Pro-Environmental Behaviour from Early Adolescence to Adulthood: A Comparison of Urban and Rural Canada. *Sustainability*, 13(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13073655
- Andreasen, A. R. (2002). Marketing Social Marketing in the Social Change Marketplace. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, *21*(1), 3–13. https://doi.org/10.1509/jppm.21.1.3.17602
- Awasthi, A., Singh, M., Soni, S. K., Singh, R., & Kalra, A. (2014). Biodiversity acts as insurance of productivity of bacterial communities under abiotic perturbations. *The ISME Journal*, 8(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2014.91
- Ballejo, F., Plaza, P. I., & Lambertucci, S. A. (2021). Framing of visual content shown on popular social media may affect viewers' attitudes to threatened species. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-92815-7
- Balmford, A., Bruner, A., Cooper, P., Costanza, R., Farber, S., Green, R. E., Jenkins, M., Jefferiss, P., Jessamy, V., Madden, J., Munro, K., Myers, N., Naeem, S., Paavola, J., Rayment, M., Rosendo, S., Roughgarden, J., Trumper, K., & Turner, R. K. (2002). Economic Reasons for Conserving Wild Nature. *Science*, *297*(5583), 950–953. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1073947
- Bamberg, S., & Möser, G. (2007). Twenty years after Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera: A new meta-analysis of psycho-social determinants of pro-environmental behaviour. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 27(1), 14–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2006.12.002
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, *84*(2), 191. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1991). Social Cognitive Theory of Moral Thought and Action. In *Handbook of Moral Behavior and Development*. Psychology Press.

- Bandura, A. (1999). Social Cognitive Theory: An Agentic Perspective. *Asian Journal of Social Psychology*, 2(1), 21–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-839X.00024
- Baumeister, R. F., Bratslavsky, E., Finkenauer, C., & Vohs, K. D. (2001). Bad is Stronger than Good. *Review of General Psychology*, *5*(4), 323–370. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.5.4.323
- Bergman, J. N., Buxton, R. T., Lin, H.-Y., Lenda, M., Attinello, K., Hajdasz, A. C., Rivest, S. A., Tran Nguyen, T., Cooke, S. J., & Bennett, J. R. (2022). Evaluating the benefits and risks of social media for wildlife conservation. *FACETS*, 7, 360–397. https://doi.org/10.1139/facets-2021-0112
- Brewer, M. B., & Gardner, W. (1996). Who is this 'We'? Levels of collective identity and self representations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71, 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.71.1.83
- Buijs, A. E., Fischer, A., Rink, D., & Young, J. C. (2008). Looking beyond superficial knowledge gaps:
 Understanding public representations of biodiversity. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science & Management*, 4(2), 65–80. https://doi.org/10.3843/Biodiv.4.2:1
- Buxton, R. T., Bennett, J. R., Reid, A. J., Shulman, C., Cooke, S. J., Francis, C. M., Nyboer, E. A.,
 Pritchard, G., Binley, A. D., Avery-Gomm, S., Ban, N. C., Beazley, K. F., Bennett, E., Blight, L.
 K., Bortolotti, L. E., Camfield, A. F., Gadallah, F., Jacob, A. L., Naujokaitis-Lewis, I., ... Smith,
 P. A. (2021). Key information needs to move from knowledge to action for biodiversity
 conservation in Canada. *Biological Conservation*, *256*, 108983.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2021.108983
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Petty, R. E. (1984). The Elaboration Likelihood Model of Persuasion. *ACR North American Advances, NA-11*. https://www.acrwebsite.org/volumes/6329/volumes/v11/NA-11/full
- Cacioppo, J. T., Petty, R. E., & Morris, K. J. (1983). Effects of need for cognition on message evaluation, recall, and persuasion. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 45, 805– 818. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.45.4.805
- Capaldi, C. A., Dopko, R. L., & Zelenski, J. M. (2014). The relationship between nature connectedness and happiness: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00976
- Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G. M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D. A., Kinzig, A. P., Daily, G. C., Loreau, M., Grace, J. B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D. S., & Naeem, S. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*, 486(7401), Article 7401. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11148

- Chan, K. M. A., Guerry, A. D., Balvanera, P., Klain, S., Satterfield, T., Basurto, X., Bostrom, A., Chuenpagdee, R., Gould, R., Halpern, B. S., Hannahs, N., Levine, J., Norton, B., Ruckelshaus, M., Russell, R., Tam, J., & Woodside, U. (2012). Where are Cultural and Social in Ecosystem Services? A Framework for Constructive Engagement. *BioScience*, 62(8), 744–756. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2012.62.8.7
- Chariandy, C., Leotaud, N., McIntosh, S., & Seeramsingh, H. (2012). *Communicating for Conservation*. Caribbean Natural Resources Institute.
- Cialdini, R. B., Reno, R. R., & Kallgren, C. A. (1990). A focus theory of normative conduct: Recycling the concept of norms to reduce littering in public places. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *58*, 1015–1026. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.58.6.1015
- City of Surrey. (2021). Module 8. Signage & Communications. In *The Biodiversity Design Guidelines* (p. pp.1-14). https://www.surrey.ca/renovating-building-development/landplanning-development/environmental-protection/biodiversity/design-guidelines
- Clayton, S., Fraser, J., & Saunders, C. D. (2009). Zoo experiences: Conversations, connections, and concern for animals. *Zoo Biology*, *28*(5), 377–397. https://doi.org/10.1002/zoo.20186
- Clayton, S., Litchfield, C., & Geller, E. S. (2013). Psychological science, conservation, and environmental sustainability. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *11*(7), 377–382. https://doi.org/10.1890/120351
- Corner, A., Markowitz, E., & Pidgeon, N. (2014). Public engagement with climate change: The role of human values. *WIREs Climate Change*, *5*(3), 411–422. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.269
- Council of Europe. (2016). *Communicating Climate Change and Biodiversity to Policy Makers*. https://rm.coe.int/16806c11bb
- Cox, R. (2013). Environmental Communication and the Public Sphere. SAGE.
- Dale, A., Clifton-Ross, J., Jost, F., Hodson, J., Leighton, H., & Bernard, M. (2021). Communicating environmental research: Harnessing the power of curation. *Community Engagement and Scholarship JournalCommunity Engagement and Scholarship*, *13*, 77–95. https://doi.org/10/gr88r2
- Dawkins, E., & Lambe, F. (2022). Valuing nature as individuals and communities. https://policycommons.net/artifacts/2437345/valuing-nature-as-individuals-andcommunities/3458899/
- de Lange, E., Sharkey, W., Castelló y Tickell, S., Migné, J., Underhill, R., & Milner-Gulland, E. J. (2022). Communicating the Biodiversity Crisis: From "Warnings" to Positive Engagement.

Tropical Conservation Science, *15*, 19400829221134892. https://doi.org/10.1177/19400829221134893

- DeVille, N. V., Tomasso, L. P., Stoddard, O. P., Wilt, G. E., Horton, T. H., Wolf, K. L., Brymer, E., Kahn,
 P. H., & James, P. (2021). Time Spent in Nature Is Associated with Increased Pro-Environmental Attitudes and Behaviors. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(14), 7498. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18147498
- Díaz, S., Settele, J., Brondízio, E., Ngo, H. T., Guèze, M., Agard, J., Arneth, A., Balvanera, P.,
 Brauman, K., Watson, R. T., Baste, I. A., Larigauderie, A., Leadley, P., Pascual, U., Baptiste,
 B., Demissew, S., Dziba, L., Erpul, G., Fazel, A., ... Vilá, B. (n.d.). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- Díaz, S., Settele, J., Brondízio, E. S., Ngo, H. T., Agard, J., Arneth, A., Balvanera, P., Brauman, K. A.,
 Butchart, S. H. M., Chan, K. M. A., Garibaldi, L. A., Ichii, K., Liu, J., Subramanian, S. M.,
 Midgley, G. F., Miloslavich, P., Molnár, Z., Obura, D., Pfaff, A., ... Zayas, C. N. (2019).
 Pervasive human-driven decline of life on Earth points to the need for transformative
 change. *Science*, *366*(6471), eaax3100. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax3100
- Dietz, T. (2013). Bringing values and deliberation to science communication. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110*(supplement_3), 14081–14087. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1212740110
- Entman, R. M. (1993). Framing: Toward Clarification of a Fractured Paradigm. *Journal of Communication*, 43(4), 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1993.tb01304.x
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2023). *Toward a 2030 Biodiversity Strategy for Canada: Halting and reversing nature loss*. https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/wildlife-plantsspecies/biodiversity/2030-biodiversity-strategy-canada.html
- Fernández-Llamazares, Á., Fraixedas, S., Brias-Guinart, A., & Terraube, J. (2020). Principles for including conservation messaging in wildlife-based tourism. *People and Nature*, 2(3), 596–607. https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.10114
- Festinger, L. (1962). A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Stanford University Press.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1977). *Belief, attitude, intention, and behavior: An introduction to theory and research*.
- Geng, L., Xu, J., Ye, L., Zhou, W., & Zhou, K. (2015). Connections with Nature and Environmental Behaviors. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(5), e0127247. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127247

- Government of Canada. (2018, December 5). *Pan-Canadian approach to transforming Species at Risk conservation in Canada*. https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/wildlife-plants-species/species-risk/pan-canadian-approach/species-at-risk-conservation.html
- Green, K. M., Crawford, B. A., Williamson, K. A., & DeWan, A. A. (2019). A Meta-Analysis of Social Marketing Campaigns to Improve Global Conservation Outcomes. *Social Marketing Quarterly*, 25(1), 69–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524500418824258
- Hein, L., van Koppen, K., de Groot, R. S., & van Ierland, E. C. (2006). Spatial scales, stakeholders and the valuation of ecosystem services. *Ecological Economics*, 57(2), 209–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2005.04.005
- Heydari, M., Omidipour, R., & Greenlee, J. (2020). Biodiversity, a review of the concept, measurement, opportunities, and challenges. *Journal of Wildlife and Biodiversity*, 4. https://doi.org/10.22120/jwb.2020.123209.1124
- Hogg, M. A., Abrams, D., & Brewer, M. B. (2017). Social identity: The role of self in group processes and intergroup relations. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 20(5), 570– 581. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430217690909
- Hooper, D. U., Adair, E. C., Cardinale, B. J., Byrnes, J. E. K., Hungate, B. A., Matulich, K. L.,
 Gonzalez, A., Duffy, J. E., Gamfeldt, L., & O'Connor, M. I. (2012). A global synthesis reveals
 biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. *Nature*, 486(7401), Article 7401.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11118
- Hornik, R. (2002). Exposure: Theory and Evidence About All the Ways It Matters. *Social Marketing Quarterly*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15245000214135
- Hornsey, M. J., & Fielding, K. S. (2016). A cautionary note about messages of hope: Focusing on progress in reducing carbon emissions weakens mitigation motivation. *Global Environmental Change*, *39*, 26–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.04.003
- Hubbell, S. P. (2011). The Unified Neutral Theory of Biodiversity and Biogeography (MPB-32). In *The Unified Neutral Theory of Biodiversity and Biogeography (MPB-32)*. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400837526
- Hurlbert, M., Krishnaswamy, J., Johnson, F. X., Rodríguez-Morales, J. E., & Zommers, Z. (2019). *Risk management and decision making in relation to sustainable development*.
- Ives, C. D., Giusti, M., Fischer, J., Abson, D. J., Klaniecki, K., Dorninger, C., Laudan, J., Barthel, S.,
 Abernethy, P., Martín-López, B., Raymond, C. M., Kendal, D., & von Wehrden, H. (2017).
 Human–nature connection: A multidisciplinary review. *Current Opinion in Environmental* Sustainability, 26–27, 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2017.05.005

- Jacobson, S. K., McDuff, M. D., & Monroe, M. C. (2015). *Conservation Education and Outreach Techniques*. Oxford University Press.
- Jones, M. D. (2014). Communicating Climate Change: Are Stories Better than "Just the Facts"? *Policy Studies Journal*, *42*(4), 644–673. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12072
- Kals, E., Schumacher, D., & Montada, L. (1999). Emotional Affinity toward Nature as a Motivational Basis to Protect Nature. *Environment and Behavior*, *31*(2), 178–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/00139169921972056
- Keesstra, S. D., Bouma, J., Wallinga, J., Tittonell, P., Smith, P., Cerdà, A., Montanarella, L., Quinton, J. N., Pachepsky, Y., van der Putten, W. H., Bardgett, R. D., Moolenaar, S., Mol, G., Jansen, B., & Fresco, L. O. (2016). The significance of soils and soil science towards realization of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. *SOIL*, *2*(2), 111–128. https://doi.org/10.5194/soil-2-111-2016
- Kenter, J. O., Hyde, T., Christie, M., & Fazey, I. (2011). The importance of deliberation in valuing ecosystem services in developing countries—Evidence from the Solomon Islands. *Global Environmental Change*, 21(2), 505–521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.01.001
- Kidd, L. R., Bekessy, S. A., & Garrard, G. E. (2019). Neither Hope nor Fear: Empirical Evidence Should Drive Biodiversity Conservation Strategies. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 34(4), 278–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2019.01.018
- Kidd, L. R., Garrard, G. E., Bekessy, S. A., Mills, M., Camilleri, A. R., Fidler, F., Fielding, K. S., Gordon, A., Gregg, E. A., Kusmanoff, A. M., Louis, W., Moon, K., Robinson, J. A., Selinske, M. J., Shanahan, D., & Adams, V. M. (2019). Messaging matters: A systematic review of the conservation messaging literature. *Biological Conservation*, *236*, 92–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.05.020
- Knight, A. J. (2008). "Bats, snakes and spiders, Oh my!" How aesthetic and negativistic attitudes, and other concepts predict support for species protection. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 28(1), 94–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2007.10.001
- Kolandai-Matchett, K., & Armoudian, M. (2020). Message framing strategies for effective marine conservation communication. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, *30*(12), 2441–2463. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3349
- Kreps, G. L., & Neuhauser, L. (2010). New directions in eHealth communication: Opportunities and challenges. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 78(3), 329–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2010.01.013

- Kusmanoff, A. M., Fidler, F., Gordon, A., Garrard, G. E., & Bekessy, S. A. (2020). Five lessons to guide more effective biodiversity conservation message framing. *Conservation Biology*, 34(5), 1131–1141. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13482
- Linder, N., Lindahl, T., & Borgström, S. (2018). Using Behavioural Insights to Promote Food Waste Recycling in Urban Households—Evidence From a Longitudinal Field Experiment. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00352
- Malhi, Y., Franklin, J., Seddon, N., Solan, M., Turner, M. G., Field, C. B., & Knowlton, N. (2020).
 Climate change and ecosystems: Threats, opportunities and solutions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 375(1794), 20190104.
 https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0104
- Malikhao, P. (2018). Health Communication: Approaches, Strategies, and Ways to Sustainability on Health or Health for All. In J. Servaes (Ed.), *Handbook of Communication for Development and Social Change* (pp. 1–24). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7035-8_137-1
- Martell, J. E. M. (2022). Leveraging Message Frames, Emotions, and Values to Enhance Communication and Influence Conservation Behavior. https://doi.org/10.7298/82tb-5m65
- Mayer, F. S., & Frantz, C. M. (2004). The connectedness to nature scale: A measure of individuals' feeling in community with nature. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *24*(4), 503–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2004.10.001
- McCunn, L., Gifford, R., Veitch, J. A., Arbuthnott, K., Zhao, J., Arnold-Schutta, P., Young, C., & Jardine, N. (2021). *Addressing Climate Change in Canada: The Importance of Psychological Science*. Canadian Psychological Association.
- McKenzie-Mohr, D. (2000). New Ways to Promote Proenvironmental Behavior: Promoting Sustainable Behavior: An Introduction to Community-Based Social Marketing. *Journal of Social Issues*, *56*(3), 543–554. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00183
- Moorhouse, T. P., Dahlsjö, C. A. L., Baker, S. E., D'Cruze, N. C., & Macdonald, D. W. (2015). The Customer Isn't Always Right—Conservation and Animal Welfare Implications of the Increasing Demand for Wildlife Tourism. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(10), e0138939. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138939
- Moser, S. C. (2010). Communicating climate change: History, challenges, process and future directions. *WIREs Climate Change*, 1(1), 31–53. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.11

- Moser, S. C., & Dilling, L. (2007). *Creating a Climate for Change: Communicating Climate Change and Facilitating Social Change*. Cambridge University Press.
- Naidoo, R., Balmford, A., Costanza, R., Fisher, B., Green, R. E., Lehner, B., Malcolm, T. R., & Ricketts, T. H. (2008). Global mapping of ecosystem services and conservation priorities.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, *105*(28), 9495–9500.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0707823105
- Nature Trust. (n.d.). *Biodiversity—What Can We Do?* The Nature Trust of British Columbia. Retrieved 4 August 2023, from https://www.naturetrust.bc.ca/conserving-land/what-can-we-do
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L. N., Hill, S. L. L., Contu, S., Lysenko, I., Senior, R. A., Börger, L., Bennett, D. J., Choimes, A., Collen, B., Day, J., De Palma, A., Díaz, S., Echeverria-Londoño, S., Edgar, M. J., Feldman, A., Garon, M., Harrison, M. L. K., Alhusseini, T., ... Purvis, A. (2015). Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. *Nature*, *520*(7545), Article 7545. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14324
- Nicoll, R., Vick, C., Laffoley, D., Hajduk, T., Zuccarino-Crowe, C., Bianco, M., Russell, S., Flood, K., Parry, L., & Keenleyside, K. (2016). MPAs, aquatic conservation and connecting people to nature. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, *26*(S2), 142–164. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2678
- Nisbet, E. K., Zelenski, J. M., & Murphy, S. A. (2009). The Nature Relatedness Scale: Linking Individuals' Connection With Nature to Environmental Concern and Behavior. *Environment and Behavior*, *41*(5), 715–740. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916508318748
- O'Keefe, D. J. (2015). Persuasion: Theory and Research. SAGE Publications.
- O'Neill, S., & Nicholson-Cole, S. (2009). "Fear Won't Do It": Promoting Positive Engagement With Climate Change Through Visual and Iconic Representations. *Science Communication*, *30*(3), 355–379. https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547008329201
- Ontario Biodiversity Council. (2017). *Communicating Biodiversity & Climate Change: A Guide for Crafting Effective Messaging*. https://ontariobiodiversitycouncil.ca/wpcontent/uploads/Biodiversity-and-ClimateChange-August2017.pdf
- Petty, R. E., Barden, J., & Wheeler, S. C. (2002). The elaboration likelihood model of persuasion: Health promotions that yield sustained behavioral change. *Emerging Theories in Health Promotion Practice and Research*, 71–99.

- Pornpitakpan, C. (2004). The Persuasiveness of Source Credibility: A Critical Review of Five Decades' Evidence. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *34*(2), 243–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2004.tb02547.x
- Restall, B., & Conrad, E. (2015). A literature review of connectedness to nature and its potential for environmental management. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *159*, 264–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.05.022
- Richardson, M., Dobson, J., Abson, D. J., Lumber, R., Hunt, A., Young, R., & Moorhouse, B. (2020).
 Applying the pathways to nature connectedness at a societal scale: A leverage points perspective. *Ecosystems and People*, *16*(1), 387–401.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/26395916.2020.1844296
- Rogers, E. M. (2010). Diffusion of Innovations, 4th Edition. Simon and Schuster.
- Rozema, S., & Nowak, J. K. (2021). *Effectively Communicating Biodiversity Loss Through Audiovisual Stories*.
- Salazar, G., Monroe, M. C., Ennes, M., Jones, J. A., & Veríssimo, D. (2022). Testing the influence of visual framing on engagement and pro-environmental action. *Conservation Science and Practice*, 4(10), e12812. https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.12812
- Schultz, P. W. (2011). Conservation Means Behavior. *Conservation Biology*, *25*(6), 1080–1083. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2011.01766.x
- Schultz, P. W. (2014). Strategies for Promoting Proenvironmental Behavior. *European Psychologist*, *19*(2), 107–117. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040/a000163
- Sheeran, P., Maki, A., Monanaro, E., Bryan, A., Klein, W., Miles, E., & Rothman, A. (2015). The impact of changing attitudes, norms, and self-efficacy on health-related intentions and behavior: A meta-analysis. *European Health Psychologist*, 598–598.
- Silvestro, D., Goria, S., Sterner, T., & Antonelli, A. (2022). Improving biodiversity protection through artificial intelligence. *Nature Sustainability*, *5*(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-022-00851-6
- Singhal, A., & Rogers, E. (2012). *Entertainment-Education: A Communication Strategy for Social Change*. Routledge.
- Sunstein, C. R., & Reisch, L. A. (2014). Automatically Green: Behavioral Economics and Environmental Protection. *Harvard Environmental Law Review*, *38*, 127.
- Tajfel, H., Turner, J. C., Austin, W. G., & Worchel, S. (1979). An integrative theory of intergroup conflict. *Organizational Identity: A Reader*, *56*(65), 9780203505984–16.

- TEEB. (2010). The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity Ecological and Economic Foundations (Pushpam Kumar (ed.)). Earthscan. https://teebweb.org/publications/teeb-for/researchand-academia/
- Thaler, R. H., & Sunstein, C. R. (2008). *Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness*. Yale University Press.
- The Nature Conservancy. (n.d.). *The Biodiversity Action Guide*. Retrieved 4 August 2023, from https://www.nature.org/en-us/what-we-do/our-insights/perspectives/biodiversity-action-guide/
- UN environment programme. (2022). *The post-2020 global biodiversity framework (Report No. CBD/WG2020/3/7)*.
- UNESCO. (2022). *Reimagining our futures together: A new social contract for education*. UN.
- Valente, T. W. (1996). Social network thresholds in the diffusion of innovations. *Social Networks*, *18*(1), 69–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-8733(95)00256-1
- Valente, T. W. (2012). Network Interventions. *Science*, *337*(6090), 49–53. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1217330
- Valente, T. W., & Davis, R. L. (1999). Accelerating the Diffusion of Innovations Using Opinion
 Leaders. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 566(1), 55–67. https://doi.org/10.1177/000271629956600105
- Veríssimo, D. (2019). The past, present, and future of using social marketing to conserve biodiversity. Social Marketing Quarterly, 25(1), 3–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524500419825545
- Wakefield, M. A., Loken, B., & Hornik, R. C. (2010). Use of mass media campaigns to change health behaviour. *Lancet*, *376*(9748), 1261–1271. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60809-4
- Wang, J., Gu, Y., Xin, H., & Wang, X. (2022). Influence of Appeal Type and Message Framing on Residents' Intent to Engage in Pro-Environmental Behavior. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(23), Article 23. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315431
- Weir, K. (2020). Nurtured by nature. *Monitor on Psychology*, 51(3), 50–56.
- White, K., Habib, R., & Hardisty, D. J. (2019). How to SHIFT Consumer Behaviors to be More
 Sustainable: A Literature Review and Guiding Framework. *Journal of Marketing*, *83*(3), 22–49. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022242919825649

- Witte, K., & Allen, M. (2000). A Meta-Analysis of Fear Appeals: Implications for Effective Public Health Campaigns. *Health Education & Behavior*, 27(5), 591–615.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/109019810002700506
- World Health Organization, & Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. (2015). *Connecting global priorities: Biodiversity and human health: a state of knowledge review*. https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241508537
- World Wildlife Fund. (n.d.). *What is biodiversity and why is it under threat?* Retrieved 4 August 2023, from https://www.worldwildlife.org/pages/what-is-biodiversity
- Zylstra, M. J., Knight, A. T., Esler, K. J., & Le Grange, L. L. L. (2014). Connectedness as a Core Conservation Concern: An Interdisciplinary Review of Theory and a Call for Practice. *Springer Science Reviews*, 2(1), 119–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40362-014-0021-3